

# JUROR HANDBOOK

THE MOUNT VERNON MUNICIPAL COURT 5 North Gay St Mount Vernon OH 43050

JUDGE JOHN C. THATCHER STEPHANIE HARDMAN, CLERK OF COURT

# Contents

(click to jump	to a section)
----------------	---------------

How was I chosen for jury service?	5
How am I informed that I have been chosen as a prospective juror?	5
Do I have to respond to the summons to jury service?	5
I received a jury summons but I no longer live in Knox County. What do I do?	5
I received a jury summons for a deceased family member. What should I do?	6
I have been called several times for jury service and yet I know a lot of people who have never been called. Why?	6
What is the jury service telephone number?	6
Can I check the status of my jury service on-line?	6
What if I can't perform jury service right now?	6
What about my job?	7
Will I be reimbursed for serving on a jury?	7
How long will I be in jury service?	7
What if an unexpected emergency keeps me from coming to the Justice Center while I'm on a jury?	7
Where do I park?	7
How will I know what to expect and what to do during my jury service?	7
What hours will I serve?	7
Is there anything I can do to make my jury service more comfortable, convenient, and enjoyable?	8
What should I wear for jury service?	8
Are pagers and/or cell phones permitted?	8
Will I be allowed to make phone calls while on jury service?	8
Is reading material provided to pass the idle time?	8
Is smoking permitted?	8
Who do I contact if I have questions while at the Justice Center for jury service or if I have a special need?	9
Do you provide paperwork that I can show my employer to prove that I reported for jury service?	9
When do I get paid?	9
Can I leave the jury room?	

Is it possible that I might report for jury service but not sit on a jury?	9
What are my responsibilities now that I'm part of a jury? Error! Bookmark not def	ined.
What is a "question of law"?	9
What is a "question of fact"?	10
Who will be in the courtroom? What will they be doing?	10
What happens during a trial?	11
What are jury instructions?	11
Who awards damages in a civil case?	12
How are criminal cases tried?	12
Who sets the punishment in criminal cases?	12
Why do the attorneys object to certain statements or evidence?	12
Why is the jury sometimes asked to leave the courtroom in the middle of a trial?	12
What should I do when testimony is stricken from the record?	13
Can I talk to anyone about the trial while it's going on?	13
Can I watch news reports of the trial or read newspaper accounts of it?	13
What if I accidentally hear something about the trial outside the courtroom, or if someone contacts me about the trial	while
it is still going on, or if I realize during the trial that I have some special information that relates to the case?	13
What if I need a break during the trial?	13
What happens after the closing arguments?	14
Will anyone be in the jury room besides the jury?	14
What's the first thing we do?	14
What if we don't understand the jury instructions?	14
How should we conduct our deliberations?	14
Do we all have to agree?	15
What should we do after we've reached our verdict?	15
The Role of the Jury is Essential:	15

MOUNT VERNON MUNICIPAL COURT

5 North Gay Street • Mount Vernon, Ohio 43050

# JUROR'S HANDBOOK

JOHN C. THATCHER
Judge

**STEPHANIE HARDMAN** *Clerk of Court*  TODD WELLS Bailiff

Trials by jury have been an important part of the American legal system for over two centuries. They are an integral part of the laws which protect the fundamental rights of all citizens. Jury Service is an important and rewarding service which you are summoned to provide, by the court, for your county. Through your service, the people of Knox County participate directly in the administration of justice.

# How was I chosen for jury service?

Your name has been drawn at random from a list of registered voters in Knox County. The random selection process is designed to produce a cross section of the community. Men and women over 18 years of age and from all walks of life have an equal opportunity to be called for jury service. Such persons must be U. S. citizens, live and vote in Knox County, Ohio, and be able to read, hear, and speak the English language. Assisted listening devices are available for the hearing impaired.

# How am I informed that I have been chosen as a prospective juror?

You will receive, by regular mail, a summons to serve as a juror, a jury questionnaire, and a selfaddressed stamped envelope for returning the questionnaire. The jury summons will state the dates you are required to report for jury service, and the jury service number you must call the night before each of your scheduled jury dates for instructions regarding your jury service.

### Do I have to respond to the summons to jury service?

<u>Yes</u>. The summons to jury service is an official court summons. If you do not respond or report for jury service without a lawful excuse from the Court, you could be brought before the Court for possible contempt of court proceedings. If you are found in contempt by the Judge, the Court may impose a fine and/or other punishment as provided by Ohio law.

# I received a jury summons but I no longer live in Knox County. What do I do?

To be eligible to serve in Knox County, you must reside in Knox County. If you have moved

<u>from Knox County</u>, please fill out the questionnaire and request for excuse or deferral forms with your name, new address, the county in which you now reside, and your phone number. Return the questionnaire and the request for excuse in the enclosed self-addressed envelope. You may want to contact the Board of Elections to make sure they know that you have moved outside of Knox County.

# I received a jury summons for a deceased family member. What should I do?

We apologize for any undue hardship this has caused. Please mark the outside of the summons "DECEASED" and return it in the enclosed self-addressed envelope. You may want to contact the Board of Elections to make sure they have been notified that the family member is deceased.

# I have been called several times for jury service and yet I know a lot of people who have never been called. Why?

The drawing of prospective jurors each year is a completely RANDOM process. In those random draws, some persons may be chosen multiple times and others may never be chosen.

# What is the jury service telephone number?

Since many cases are resolved prior to the time of trial, for your convenience, we ask that you call 740-393-2062 the day before you are scheduled to serve. You will reach an outgoing message machine which will advise you whether or not you are still required to appear the following morning, and if so, the time to appear (usually at 8:15 a.m.).

# Can I check the status of my jury service on-line?

Yes. Our web site is <u>www.mountvernonmunicipalcourt.org.</u> Click on the "Juror Confirmation" button in the bottom right-hand corner of the web page. Follow the same instructions as when using the jury service number.

# What if I can't perform jury service right now?

Your term of jury service might disturb your regular pattern of work and other activities. You won't be excused because jury service is inconvenient or because you have a busy schedule, but you may be excused for reasons such as a physical ailment, planned trips abroad, etc.. If you have special conflicts on particular days during the term, the Court may excuse you on those days only.

# What about my job?

Your employer can't fire, demote, or otherwise penalize you for missing work while performing jury service. Many employers will continue to pay your salary while you are in jury service. Contact your employer to find out what the policy is at your job.

### Will I be reimbursed for serving on a jury?

You will receive \$40.00 per day for each day you are required to report and actually are seated on a jury trial. Jurors who appear for jury service but are not seated will receive \$25.00.

### How long will I be in jury service?

Jurors are scheduled to appear for a one month period. Your summons will indicate the exact dates of the month you are scheduled to serve.

# What if an unexpected emergency keeps me from coming to the Justice Center while I'm on a jury?

Jurors must be prompt in arriving at the Municipal Court. It is very important that all jurors report each day they are told to report and that they be on time. Your absence may delay a trial. If you have an emergency (such as a sudden illness or a death in the family), call the Court immediately at 740-393-9510.

# Where do I park?

Free visitor parking is available in the parking garage beneath the Municipal Building. There is additional, limited parking provided on Gay Street as well as the Public Square.

# How will I know what to expect and what to do during my jury service?

In addition to the information in this handbook, the bailiff is available to answer any questions or assist you in any way.

# What hours will I serve?

You should report to the Municipal Building on the dates shown on your jury summons. The jury service number and the on-line jury confirmation will instruct you on the time to report for each jury date. On days that you report for jury service, you can expect to be at the Court during its normal hours. If not selected for a jury, you may be able to leave early. Jurors will be given a

lunch break and may be given other breaks during a trial. On occasion, a trial will continue beyond the Court's normal working hours. If this happens, you may need to arrange your schedule to allow you to stay longer. You may use your cell phones in the jury rooms. Just remember to quiet your cell phones before going back into the courtroom.

# Is there anything I can do to make my jury service more comfortable, convenient, and enjoyable?

Certainly! While efforts are made to reduce delay and avoid waiting time, you may have to wait awhile at the Court before you find out whether you have been chosen to actually sit on a jury. So bring a book or other quiet activity. Solve a crossword puzzle, write a letter, or get to know your fellow jurors. Remember that as a juror, you are a vital part of the court system. Part of the job of many court employees, such as the bailiffs and the jury commissioner, is to help make your jury service comfortable and convenient. Don't be afraid to ask them for help.

### What should I wear for jury service?

Wear comfortable clothing that enhances the dignity of the Court and emphasizes the seriousness of your responsibility. Shorts, hats, t-shirts, sweat suits, tank tops, or other such informal attire is <u>not</u> considered appropriate in the courtroom.

# Are cell phones permitted?

Yes. Cell phones are permitted in the Court. However, they must be turned off while in the courtroom.

### Will I be allowed to make phone calls while on jury service?

Yes. Your cell phones can be utilized during breaks.

### Is reading material provided to pass the idle time?

Yes. You may also bring your own reading materials, but you must take them with you when you leave.

# Is smoking permitted?

Yes. Smoking is only permitted, however, in outdoor designated juror smoking areas during breaks or lunch.

# Who do I contact if I have questions while at the court for jury service or if I have a special need?

Contact the bailiff or the Clerk of Court while you are waiting in the jury assembly room. Once you are seated as a juror you should contact the bailiff who is working in the courtroom.

# Do you provide paperwork that I can show my employer to prove that I reported for jury service?

Yes. When you arrive in the morning and while checking in, advise the hall bailiff or the jury commissioner.

# When do I get paid?

Upon **completion of your term of jury service**, the jury commissioner will total your accumulated service and send you a check by the end of the next month following your term of service.

# Can I leave the jury room?

Yes. However, you cannot leave without the permission of the bailiff or jury commissioner. The reason for this is to keep you from being influenced by attorneys, witnesses, victims, defendants, etc. with whom you might come in contact around the Court.

# Is it possible that I might report for jury service but not sit on a jury?

Yes. The parties involved in a case generally seek to settle their differences and avoid the expense and time of a trial. Sometimes the case is settled just a few moments before the trial begins. So even though several trials are scheduled for a certain day, the Court doesn't know until that morning how many will actually go to trial. But your time spent waiting is not wasted--your very presence in the Court encourages settlement.

# What is a "question of law"?

Questions of law involve the determination of what the law is. They may be about procedural matters (what information can be admitted as evidence, what kind of questions can be asked, which witnesses can appear, and what they can testify about). Or they may involve questions of substantive law, which create, define, and regulate the rights of parties.

# What is a "question of fact"?

Quite simply, it's deciding what really happened in a case. Don't be surprised if the evidence given by both sides is conflicting or if the testimony given by one witness contradicts another. After all, if everyone was in agreement about what happened and what should be done about it, the dispute probably wouldn't be in court, and a jury probably wouldn't be needed. Your job is to listen to all the testimony, consider all the evidence, and decide what you think really happened.

# Who will be in the courtroom? What will they be doing?

A jury trial involves many people. The list below explains who they are and what they'll be doing.

#### Judge

The Judge presides over the trial, instructs the jury, makes rulings on points of law, and has general charge over the proceedings of the trial and its participants.

#### Plaintiff (Civil case)

In a civil case, the person who brought the case to Court is called the Plaintiff.

#### **Defendant (Civil case)**

The person being sued in a civil case is called the Defendant.

#### **Prosecuting Attorney (Criminal case)**

Attorney who is representing the people of the State or local political subdivision.

#### **Defendant (Criminal case)**

A person who has been charged with a crime is the Defendant in a criminal case.

#### **Attorneys or Counsel**

Attorneys representing the Plaintiff, Defendant, or the government in a criminal case are also referred to as counsel. Depending on who they represent and what court you are in, you may hear them called Counsel for the Plaintiff, Plaintiff's Attorney, Counsel for the Defendant, or Defense Attorney. An attorney representing the government in a criminal case is called the Prosecuting Attorney.

#### Bailiff

The bailiff opens Court, is responsible for keeping order and maintaining the security of the Court, recording and logging all trial proceedings, and helping the Judge and the jury as needed.

#### Witnesses

Each side in a trial will probably have a number of witnesses who have information about the dispute. They present testimony under oath concerning what they have seen or know about the facts of the case. Very often, the Judge will ask them to wait outside the courtroom until it is their turn to testify. This is done so they won't hear each other's testimony and be influenced by it.

### What happens during a trial?

The trial will begin with opening statements by the attorneys for both sides explaining their client's position and outlining the evidence they expect to present that will support their claims. These statements are not considered evidence but are an introduction to claims which must be proven by the presentation of evidence.

The examination of witnesses and presentation of evidence will begin after opening statements. The witnesses for the Plaintiff are then called and questioned by the Attorney for the Plaintiff and cross-examined by the Attorney for the Defendant. After cross examination, the Plaintiff's attorney may reexamine some of the witnesses. After all the Plaintiff's witnesses have been called and all the Plaintiff's evidence has been presented, the attorney will tell the Judge that the Plaintiff rests.

Witnesses for the Defendant may then be called. This time, the Defendant's attorney questions the witnesses, and the Plaintiff's attorney cross-examines them. When all the Defendant's witnesses and evidence have been presented, the defense will rest. After the Defendant has finished, the Plaintiff has the right to offer testimony in reply.

Attorneys may make objections during the trial in an effort to limit the testimony being presented. Objections are a legal and proper part of the trial process. If the Judge sustains the objection, the evidence or testimony is not proper, and if he overrules the objection, the line of questioning may continue

Then the attorneys make their closing arguments. The closing arguments let each attorney tell the jury what they think the evidence proves and why their client should win. These closing arguments may help jurors recall many details of the case, but they are not evidence. The Plaintiff's attorney speaks first, followed by the Defendant's attorney. Finally, the Plaintiff's attorney speaks again and closes the case.

The Judge reads the jury instructions to the jury. Then the jury begins its deliberations in the jury deliberation room.

# What are jury instructions?

Jury instructions tell the jury what the laws are that govern a particular case. The jurors must accept and follow the law as instructed by the Judge even though they may have a different idea about what the law is or ought to be.

# Who awards damages in a civil case?

In a civil case, the jury not only decides on a verdict for one side or the other, but also awards damages. That is, if the jury determines that an award of money should be made, the jury decides how much money should be paid.

# How are criminal cases tried?

Criminal cases are very similar to civil cases, except instead of a Plaintiff, there is a Prosecuting Attorney. The Prosecuting Attorney may represent either the State or a City, County, or Town.

Our Court hears Misdemeanor criminal and traffic cases.

# Who sets the punishment in criminal cases?

If the jury finds the Defendant guilty in a criminal case, the Judge decides the appropriate punishment.

# Why do the attorneys object to certain statements or evidence?

An important part of an attorney's job is to protect the clients' rights during a trial. This includes making sure that the only evidence presented during the trial is evidence that is proper, relevant, and allowed by law. So if evidence is submitted that the attorney feels is improper, or if the attorney feels that the other side is asking questions that are unlawful, the attorney will call out "Objection!" By doing this, the attorney is asking the Judge to rule on whether the law allows that particular piece of evidence or statement or question to be admitted. If the Judge thinks it should be admitted, the Judge will say, "Objection overruled." If the Judge agrees that the evidence in question is improper, the Judge will say, "Objection sustained."

# Why is the jury sometimes asked to leave the courtroom in the middle of a trial?

Occasionally the Judge may decide to send the jury from the courtroom in the middle of a trial so that arguments may be presented to the Court concerning an objection, discuss points of law or whether certain evidence can be admitted, or other legal issues. This is done outside the presence of jurors to avoid possible prejudice. At other times, the attorneys may gather near the judge's bench in order to discuss a legal point out of your hearing without having you leave the courtroom. These activities, and the Judge's ruling on objections are required to be done outside of your hearing and, therefore, should not cause you to give either side more favorable consideration. You will be called back to the courtroom when the Judge's decision is made.

# What should I do when testimony is stricken from the record?

You must disregard that testimony. Sometimes the jury hears testimony that the Judge later decides they should not have heard. The Judge will tell the jury to consider the case as if they had never heard it. You must follow the Judge's instructions so that the parties in the case may receive a fair trial.

# Can I talk to anyone about the trial while it's going on?

No. While a trial is in progress, jurors must not discuss the case with friends, relatives, or trial participants. Do not even discuss the case with your fellow jurors until you begin your deliberations. If you are approached about the case, report the incident to the Bailiff immediately. Jurors must not become involved in independent investigations about the case. When it becomes necessary to inspect a scene, the jury will do so as a group under the court's supervision only. Jurors must be impartial and avoid comments or expressions during the trial which convey their feelings or opinions about the case. When the trial is over, you can discuss it with anyone if you want to, or you may keep silent if you prefer.

# Can I watch news reports of the trial or read newspaper accounts of it?

No, not as long as the trial is still going on.

# What if I accidentally hear something about the trial outside the courtroom, or if someone contacts me about the trial while it is still going on, or if I realize during the trial that I have some special information that relates to the case?

Ask the bailiff to tell the Judge immediately what has happened. Tell no one about the incident except the bailiff or the Judge.

# What if I need a break during the trial?

Jurors are given lunch breaks and may be given other breaks during a trial. If it is absolutely necessary that you take a break for some reason at any other time during the trial, tell the bailiff or the Judge. But note that these requests are highly unusual and should be made only if absolutely necessary.

# What happens after the closing arguments?

After the attorneys give their closing arguments, the Judge will instruct the jury concerning the law and its application to the particular case. The Judge is required to give these instructions to you orally, but he will also prepare a written copy of them for you to take with you into the jury room. The jurors will then proceed to the jury room to begin deliberations. "Deliberation" is the process the jury uses to reach its verdict. During deliberations, the jury will discuss evidence and review law and facts.

The jurors must first select a foreperson whose job it is to ensure that the deliberations are orderly and that everybody gets a chance to discuss the case. You will then discuss the evidence and attempt to arrive at a fair and impartial verdict based on the facts presented during the trial and the law as given by the judge in his jury instructions. When deliberations are complete, you will return to the courtroom for the presentation of your verdict.

# Will anyone be in the jury room besides the jury?

No. But if you have any questions or need any help, the bailiff will be nearby.

# What's the first thing we do?

The first thing you should do is elect one member of the jury to preside over the deliberations and be the foreperson. The foreperson sees that everyone has an opportunity to participate and that the discussions remain orderly. The foreperson takes part in deliberations and votes on the verdict along with everyone else.

# What if we don't understand the jury instructions?

The Judge will send written copies of the jury instructions to the jury room with you. If you don't understand the instructions, you may ask the Judge to explain them to you. Your questions must be put in writing and then you must ask the bailiff to give them to the Judge. The Judge will discuss the questions with the attorneys before answering them if he/she is able.

# How should we conduct our deliberations?

Each juror may have a different opinion at the start of deliberations. To reach a unanimous decision, some jurors may have to change their opinion. You should keep an open mind; listen carefully to other people's opinions, and the reasons for their opinions. You should be prepared to tell the other jurors what you think and why you think it. Be fair and carefully consider what your fellow jurors are saying. Do not let yourself be intimidated into changing your opinion, and do not intimidate anyone else. Change your opinion only if you genuinely agree with what another juror is saying. After a full discussion of the issues, the jury should be able to reach a

decision that each juror can agree to with a clear conscience.

# Do we all have to agree?

In a criminal trial, every juror must agree on a verdict. In a civil trial, a unanimous verdict is not required.

# What should we do after we've reached our verdict?

The foreperson will write down the jury's verdict on a verdict form prepared by the Judge. All jurors must sign it, and then notify the bailiff that a verdict has been reached. The bailiff will notify the Judge, who will call everyone, including the jury, back to the courtroom. The Judge will ask for the jury's verdict and read it out loud.

# The Role of the Jury is Essential:

The jury is a critical element in our system of justice. You should be proud of your service as a juror. It is, without a doubt, one of the highest expressions of citizenship. Your participation in the selection of the jury panel is essential, regardless of whether you are actually selected to serve on a case. Whether you ever get to sit on a case or not, the court and the litigants sincerely appreciate your willingness to serve your community.